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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

C.B., On Behalf of Her Minor Son N.B.,
Individually And On Behalf of All Others
Similarly Situated,
PLAINTIFF,
VS.

CASE NO. 0:16-cv-61561-BB
VALVE CORPORATION
a Washington corporation, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

CSGOLOTTO INC.
a Florida corporation,

TREVOR A. MARTIN,
a Florida individual, and

THOMAS CASSELL,
a California individual.

DEFENDANTS

PLAINTIFF’S FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff C.B. (‘“Plaintiff”’), on behalf of her minor son N.B., and individually, and on
behalf of all others similarly situated, by and through counsel, brings this action against
Defendants Valve Corporation, CSGOLotto, Inc., Trevor A. Martin, and Thomas Cassell, and
states as follows:

NATURE OF THE CASE

1. Competitive video gaming is a multi-billion dollar business. The industry is
similar to other major sports like football, basketball and baseball, and is generally called

eSports. And just like major sports, eSports has its own professional players, organized leagues
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and even weekly nationally televised contests on the cable station TBS!, all sponsored by major
corporate advertising with national brands like Buffalo Wild Wings and Arby’s.?

2. Just like traditional sports, eSports has become the subject of gambling and
wagering on outcomes of matches between professional teams. An estimated $2.3 billion was
wagered on eSports in 2015 by more than 3 million people.® Like traditional sports, the vast
majority of this wagering takes place through an unregulated economy on websites mostly based
outside of the United States. However, unlike traditional sports, the people gambling on eSports
are mostly teenagers.* Also unlike traditional sports, the company that makes the product being
wagered on is directly profiting from that wagering.’

3. Defendant Valve Corporation (“Valve”), headquartered in Bellevue, Washington,
owns the sports league product and is a key component in the online gaming marketplace
through its Steam platform. Valve has knowingly® allowed an illegal online gambling market
and has been complicit in creating, sustaining and facilitating that market. Throughout this
Complaint, Steam and Valve are used interchangeably.

4. Valve does this through its e-gaming phenomenon product Counter-Strike: Global
Offensive (“CS:GO” or “Counter-Strike”). More than 380,000 people are playing Counter-Strike
worldwide at any given time.” CS:GO is the subject of TBS weekly e-gaming matches, and is the
main driver of the pro-gaming cultural phenomenon. CS:GO matches are streamed live on

websites like Twitch in addition to the TBS weekly league show.

! http://www.e-league.com/teams/

2 http://www.e-league.com/news/official-marketing-partners

3 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/
4 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/
5 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/
6 http://www.dailydot.com/esports/skin-betting-csgo-lawsuit-valve/

7 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/

2




Case 0:16-cv-61561-BB Document 5 Entered on FLSD Docket 07/07/2016 Page 3 of 53

5. Defendant Valve knowingly® allowed, supported, and/or sponsored illegal
gambling by allowing millions of Americans to link their individual Steam accounts to third-
party websites, of which there are hundreds, such as CSGO Lounge (“Lounge”), CSGO
Diamonds (“Diamonds”), CSGOSpeed (“Speed”), CSGOCrash (“Crash”), Skin Arena
(“Arena”), and OPSkins (collectively, “unnamed co-conspirators”) and by allowing third party
sites to operate their gambling transactions within the Steam marketplace. Lounge, Diamonds,
Speed, Crash, Lotto and Arena are collectively referred to as “Skins Gambling Websites”
hereafter.

6. Counter-Strike players can purchase CS:GO Skins (“Skins”), weapons with
different textures that can be used during gameplay of Counter-Strike, through Steam, Valve’s
online marketplace. Skins can then easily be traded and used as collateral for bets placed on
Skins Gambling Websites through linked Steam accounts. In the eSports gambling economy,
skins are like casino chips that have monetary value outside the game itself because of the ability
to convert them directly into cash. Valve takes a 15% fee on the sale of each Skin (casino chip)
through its marketplace.’

7. Unlike traditional casino chips, however, Valve has created Skins out of thin air
and can therefore control the ultimate real world value of these items through its control over

supply in the marketplace.'®

And, unlike a traditional casino, Valve does not risk anything by
selling these Skins and does not allow users to directly exchange these for cash, and only makes
a fee from selling them.

8. Diamonds allows users to exchange Skins for virtual diamonds, which then can be

used to wager on variable-odds outcomes based on dice rolling. Diamonds claims on its website

8 http://www.dailydot.com/esports/skin-betting-csgo-lawsuit-valve/
? https://support.steampowered.com/kb_article.php?ref=6088-UDXM-7214
10 http://store.steampowered.com/news/19618/
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that it offers an innovative new way to bet Skins and that it caters to all styles of gambling. One
diamond is equivalent to approximately $1 in Skins. Diamonds claims that its methods are
provably fair and that diamonds earned are able to be converted to real currency. Diamonds can
also be used to repurchase Skins, with the price of skins valued according to CS:GO Analysts,
which are based on the economic theory of supply and demand. Moreover, Diamonds pays users
to promote its website. Diamonds has no age verification process in place, which allows minor
users to place illegal bets that can later be converted to real currency on other third-party
websites.

9. Lounge is a third-party site that allows users to place bets on professional
Counter-Strike matches. Users simply link their Steam accounts via a sponsored Valve link on
Lounge’s site. Users can bet up to six Skins on any given match. Users can then collect their
winning Skins and sell them for real currency on third-party sites, such as OPSkins, or place
additional bets on upcoming professional Counter-Strike matches. Defendant Valve knowingly
allows Lounge to provide links to Valve’s Steam marketplace. Valve knowingly'! allows and
facilitates Lounge having multiple accounts on the Valve Marketplace to facilitate the gambling
transactions, and provides support and easy access for Lounge to create and manage these
accounts. Valve knows Lounge is operating a skins gambling website. Lounge has no age
verification process in place, which allows minor users to place illegal bets. Upon information
and belief, Valve has an ownership interest in and/or directly profits from the gambling of Skins
on Lounge.

10. Defendant CSGOLotto, Inc. (“Lotto”) is a third-party site that allows users —
including but not limited to Plaintiff — to place bets on various casino-style games, lotteries,

jackpots, and other ways to gamble skins as if they were casino chips, sometimes against the site

1 http://www.dailydot.com/esports/skin-betting-csgo-lawsuit-valve/
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itself, and sometimes against other players. Similar third-party sites also include Speed, Crash,
and Arena. Users have to login to each of these accounts through their Steam account, trade their
skins to the site’s own steam accounts or steam account bots on the Steam Marketplace, and then
receive skins back through the Steam Marketplace. Defendant Valve knowingly'? allows Speed,
Crash, Lotto and Arena to have accounts on Steam’s Marketplace, use Steam’s software to login
to users’ Steam accounts, access information on Steam’s servers, and provide links to Steam’s
marketplace. Valve knows these websites are used for gambling of items with real world cash
value and affirmatively allows this gambling.

11. Defendants Trevor A. Martin and Thomas Cassell are the owners of Lotto, and
they actively promote Lotto as a gambling service, including to minors.

12. OPSkins is a third-party Skins marketplace website that allows a user to link their
individual Steam account and sell Skins for real currency. Valve knowingly allowed OPSkins to
provide links to Valve’s Steam marketplace and allows OPSkins to have multiple accounts on
the Steam Marketplace to facilitate the cashing out of Skins for real money, and provides support
and easy access for OPSkins to create and manage these accounts. Valve knows OPSkins is
operating a skins gambling and cash marketplace website. OPSKins allows users to get same day
cash for their Skins via PayPal. OPSkins charges a 5% fee for same day cash outs. OPSkins
partners with CS:GO Analyst in order to assign value to various Skins. The value of Skins can
fluctuate hourly based on the economic theory of supply and demand.

13. In sum, Valve owns the league, sells the casino chips for a fee, and receives a

piece of the income stream through foreign websites in order to maintain the charade that Valve

12 http://www.dailydot.com/esports/skin-betting-csgo-lawsuit-valve/
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is not promoting and profiting from online gambling, like a modern-day Captain Renault from
Casablanca'®.

14.  To put it another way, Valve is the barkeeper who allows illegal gambling
operators to set up shop in its backroom and sell chips for a fee to customers on their way in, but
claims it is powerless to stop the illegal gambling racket and benefits from having a packed
house every night. The value of Skins has gone up because of the gambling marketplace Valve
created, sustains and supports, and Valve has directly profited from the sale of Skins, in addition
to third-party business ventures such as a league based on CS:GO. That most of the people in
the CS:GO gambling economy are teenagers and/or under 21 makes Valve’s and the other

unnamed co-conspirators’ actions even more unconscionable.

PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE

15. Defendant Valve is a Washington Corporation headquartered at 10900 NE 4% St.,
Suite 500, Bellevue, Washington 98004. Valve is authorized to conduct business and does
conduct business throughout the State of Florida. Valve is the publisher and developer of the
videogame Counter Strike: Global Offensive.

16. Defendant CSGOLotto (“Lotto”) is a Florida corporation, headquartered at 6511
Vineland Drive, Orlando, Florida 32819, and owned in part by Defendants Trevor A. Martin and
Thomas Cassell.

17. Defendant Trevor A. Martin (“Martin”) is a Florida citizen and a resident of
Orlando, Florida, who also is co-owner, President and Registered Agent for Lotto.

18. Defendant Thomas Cassell (“Cassell”) is a California citizen who resides in Los

Angeles, California, who also is co-owner and Vice President of Lotto.

13 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qmywwiZth5E
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19. Plaintiff C.B. is a resident and citizen of Broward County, Florida, whose minor
son N.B. has been a customer of Valve since 2014. He is an on-line player of CS:GO and has
entered into wagering as described infra. Specifically, Plaintiff ‘s minor son purchased CS:GO
from Defendant, purchased numerous Skins, gambled them and lost money, and knew that he
could cash out the value of the Skins for real money prior to losing them while gambling.

20. This Court also has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1331 because one of Plaintiff’s civil claims arises under the Constitution, laws or treaties of the
United States, specifically, violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962.

21.  This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law claims pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. § 1367 because the state law claims are so closely related to the claims in which the
Court has original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy.

22.  Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 as a substantial
portion of the events and conduct giving rise to the claims occurred in this District.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The Rise Of E-Sports and CS:GO

23. Valve has manufactured video games for nearly 20 years. In 1999, it introduced
the Counter-Strike series, culminating in CS:GO’s release in 2012.

24, CS:GO was one of many similar video games involving players who play as
either terrorists or counter-terrorists. Because the player views the video game through the eyes
of a character and shoots guns, it is known as a “first person shooter” game. When CS:GO was
released in 2012, the market was flooded with such franchise as Call of Duty, Halo and

Battlefield.
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25. Seeking to differentiate itself, CS:GO introduced Skins. The announcement made
was August 14, 2013 through an announcement posted on its website titled “The Arms Deal
Update” (“Skins Announcement”).'4

26. The Skins Announcement told players that they could “experience all the illicit
thrills of black market weapons trafficking without any of the hanging around in darkened
warehouses getting knifed to death.” Specifically, “[t]he Arms Deal Update lets you collect,
buy, sell and trade over 100 all-new decorated weapons that you can equip in-game.”

27. The Skins Announcement discussed how the new marketplace would work: “You
can start collecting decorated weapons via timed weapon drops just by playing CS:GO on
official and community servers. You can also get them by opening dropped weapon cases with
the appropriate key, or by trading with other players through Steam’s Trading interface.
Additionally, any decorated weapons you’ve found, bought or traded can be sold on the Steam
Marketplace.”

28. Valve directed players to Reddit (the “front page of the internet” forum website
with numerous sub-forums for specific interests), the Steam Community Discussions and the
CS:GO Forums on steampowered.com for more information and to discuss Skins.

29. Steam and steampowered.com are wholly owned properties of Valve. Steam
operates as a wholly enclosed ecosystem wherein players can play games, communicate with
other players, initiate trades with other players, list items for sale, buy games, buy items, deposit
money into their “Steam Wallet,” participate in forum discussions, and communicate with Valve
directly.

30. When items are bought and sold on the Steam Marketplace, Valve Steam takes a

5% cut on all total sales, and an additional percentage depending on the game the item is related

14 http://blog.counter-strike.net/index.php/2013/08/7425/
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to. If a sale is related to CS:GO, Steam takes an additional 10%, resulting in a 15% fee in all
marketplace sales related to CS:GO.

31. The creation of Skins was a deliberate attempt by Valve to increase its sales and
profits by adding an element of gambling and market economies to its products. And it worked:
as a result of the gambling ecosystem, explained in depth below, that grew up around CS:GO
Skins, the number of players on CS:GO increased more than 1,500 percent, and CS:GO became
the subject of televised and monetized eSports. Despite its slow initial sales, Valve has now sold
more than 21 million copies of CS:GO, earned more than $567 million in total revenue from
sales of CS:GO alone, and earned a percentage of gambling proceeds on CS:GO through various
websites and third parties.!'>

32. This was a deliberate strategy on Valve’s part. One of its employees explained at
a developer’s conference in 2014 that the company determined that the “best way to get players
deeply engaged in games...was to give away virtual items of random value and encourage a
robust market to trade them.” That employee was quoted as saying: “This is not an accident.
This is by design. We see more blogs popping up and more and more emails from our players
saying, ‘I’m not really sure what happened but I’ve been playing DotA for the last week or two,
and I made $100 selling these items that I got.” This is hugely successful for us.”'® “DotA”
refers to Defense of the Ancients, another Valve game with a similar Skin gambling ecosystem
like CS:GO.

33.  Valve went so far as to hire an internationally renowned economist to help it

develop currencies and cross-platform economies.'’

15 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/
16 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/
17 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/
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34.  The results were stunning: in addition to TBS broadcasting video games on
television, eSports matches have sold out arenas, been watched by tens of millions of viewers
online and have resulted in a multi-billion dollar global gambling marketplace.

35. There is an increase in betting — and therefore the purchase of Skins on Valve’s
website — during televised eSports. Since TBS debuted CS:GO matches, as many as 3.38
million skins were bet on matches on Lounge. The average value of Skins traded across various
platforms was $9.75. The total “handle” — that is, dollars wagered — is more than $33 million.
The matches televised in TBS result in the highest amount of wagering.!'®

36. Valve receives a direct financial benefit from televised CS:GO matches.

37. The online gambling ecosystem around CS:GO is illegal in the United States.

38. Valve had no license, permission or legal authority to create, sustain, profit from
or otherwise support an online gambling platform, and, as discussed more in depth below,
Valve’s affirmative actions both created this online gambling system and allow it to continue.

B. The Mechanics of Gambling On CS:GO And How Valve Has Created,
Facilitated, Fostered and Affirmatively Allowed Skins Gambling

39. Valve sells Skins through its website and Steam platform. Valve takes a 15% fee
on all CS:GO Skins sold through its website or sold on its Marketplace.

40. These Skins can be won, bought, trade, sold, and otherwise have in-game value
through Steam’s marketplace and the CS:GO game itself. It also sells versions of Skins called
Knives using the same system.!”

41. Unlike apps and other computer games with such in-game purchases, Valve has
created and currently supports a secondary marketplace where these in-game purchases can be

gambled and cashed out.

18 http://www.esportsbettingreport.com/eleague-handle-for-skin-betting/
19 http://www.pcgamer.com/how-400-virtual-knives-saved-counter-strike/2/
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42. Skins, in gambling terms, can be seen as casino chips.

43. CS:GO matches happen all day every day, and at any given time there are as
many as 380,000 people playing CS:GO online.?°

44, In addition to the TBS-televised games, there are online broadcasts on websites
such as Twitch. In any given match, viewers may pick which team they think is going to win.
The people who bet on the outcome of the eSports match do not play in it and have no control
over the outcome.

45. “People buy skins for cash, then use the skins to place online bets on pro CS:GO
matches. Because there’s a liquid market to convert each gun or knife back into cash, laying a
bet in skins is essentially the same as betting with real money.”?!

46. Players must link their Steam account to third party websites such as OPSkins and
Skins Gambling Websites in order to be able to gamble or cash out their Skins on the third-party
sites.

47. OPSkins and Skins Gambling Websites such as Lotto have their own accounts on
the Steam marketplace that are used to facilitate transfers, sales and gambling. That is, if a user
logs into a Skins Gambling Website and wants to gamble, technically they transfer their skins to
the Skins Gambling Website’s own Steam account, or one of that Skins Gambling Website’s
numerous “bot” accounts. If the user wins, the Skins Gambling Website transfers those Skins
back to the user’s Steam account. OPSkins does the same and has numerous Steam accounts of
its own to facilitate users turning Skins into cash.

48. These third party websites require permission and cooperation from Valve in

order to access a player’s account on Steam, and Valve specifically allows players to transfer

20 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/
21 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/
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skins to third-party accounts on the Steam Marketplace. Valve allows this knowing exactly what
these sites’ accounts are, what users are doing, and is affirmatively supporting these transactions,
and receiving income from transactions on these sites. “The gambling sites run on software built
by Valve, and whenever CS:GO skins are sold, the game maker collects 15 percent of the
money.”??

49.  Upon information and belief, Valve has an ownership interest, partnership or
otherwise a direct business relationship with Lounge.

50. Valve has helped develop the gambling economy and third-party sites such as
Lotto and has worked with Lotto and other third-party sites to continue operations. Valve
affirmatively facilitates the gambling through allowing third-parties to create thousands of
accounts through automation, “whitelists” or other shortcuts, and knowingly allows these steps
of the gambling process to occur within the Steam marketplace.

51. For instance, in January 2015, Valve instituted a new security measure that
required users to prove they were real human beings known as a “Captcha” tool. Valve did this
in order to “prevent malware on users’ machines making trades on their behalf.” However,
Valve specifically “excluded a few of the existing third-party trading services from this
requirement so they can continue to function.”? Those third-party trading services are sites like
OPSkins and the Skins Gambling Websites that use hundreds and/or thousands of Steam

accounts to facilitate gambling.?*

22 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/

23 http://steamcommunity.com/groups/tradingcards/discussions/1/622954023422884592/

2 https://www.reddit.com/r/Steam/comments/3lvvao/how_safe are third party websites_that_allow_you/;
http://steamcommunity.com/id/drunkenf001/
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52. Valve is well aware of the Skins gambling that goes on, is well aware that Skins
have real world cash value, which has increased their popularity and value, and actively
encourages and facilitates Skins gambling.

53. Valve is aware that these third-party gambling sites can and do cheat CS:GO
players betting skins. An anonymous Valve employee told a reporter that “I don’t think the
rigged roulette sites in Russia give two f--ks” about the original lawsuit filed against Valve that

mentions third-party websites based overseas.> The full context of that quote:

i . b The Daily Dot : Q

Fopular Seckions

The alleged co-conspirators in the suit, skin
gambling sites CSGO Lounge, Diamonds, and
OPSkins, will also likely be unaffected.

Ward acknowledged that even reaching these sites
would be difficult. “Who are these sites?” he said.
“We know Lounge is a real business in Poland, but
for Diamonds, we have no idea ... this can be a
problem that prevents offshore-gambling suits from

going forward.”

The Valve employee added: “I don’t think the rigged
roulette sites in Russia give two fucks.”

Valve did not respond to requests for comment on
this article.

54. In addition to anonymous employees bashing lawsuits to reporters and admitting
Valve is aware that rigged third-party sites are taking money from Valve’s teenage customers,

Valve has publicly discussed gambling on CS:GO. For instance, in order to stem the increased

2 http://www.dailydot.com/esports/skin-betting-csgo-lawsuit-valve/
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hacking, fraud and other harms to consumers that had arisen out of Skins gambling in 2015,
Valve introduced new security measures. Valve announced these measures on December 9,
2015, in a post called “Security and Trading” on the Steam marketplace website.?

55. In this post, Valve wrote: “Account theft has been around since Steam began, but
with the introduction of Steam Trading, the problem has increased twenty-fold as the number
one complaint from our users... This was an unacceptable status quo and we needed to address
it. In revisiting our strategy to stop it, we found two things of note. First, enough money now
moves around the system that stealing virtual Steam goods has become a real business for skilled
hackers. Second, practically every active Steam account is now involved in the economy, via
items or trading cards, with enough value to be worth a hacker's time. Essentially all Steam
accounts are now targets.”?’

56. Valve admitted that it knew Skins had real world cash value: “If hackers couldn't
move the stolen goods off the hacked account, then they couldn't sell them for real money, and
that would remove the primary incentive to steal the account.”

57. Valve thus knows and has admitted that its in-game Skins have real world value
through third-party websites it knowingly supports and assists on the Steam Marketplace.

58. Valve could have stopped this hacking and theft perpetrated against consumers -
again, mostly teenagers - by “removing trading” - but chose not to. Instead, Valve instituted new

two-factor security and an “escrow” system where Valve held onto items for a short period of

time before delivery between users’ accounts and third-party bot or trading accounts.?

26 http://store.steampowered.com/news/19618/
27 http://store.steampowered.com/news/19618/
28 http://store.steampowered.com/news/19618/
2 http://store.steampowered.com/news/19618/
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59. Valve is aware users get scammed from gambling bots operating inside the Valve
Marketplace, and publishes a list of Frequently Asked Questions to deal with this issue,
including one called Gambling Bot Trade Offer: “A fake gambling bot tells you that you have
won an item jackpot, but in order to receive the items, you must first accept their trade offer.

After receiving your items, the user blocks your messages and keeps your items. Tip: Never

trade an item away when prompted by another user or bot if you cannot verify their claim.”*°

60.  In the summer of 2015, Valve was notified of potential match-fixing, and worked
with a European e-sports league to ban the alleged perpetrators. Valve admitted it could monitor
players’ accounts for activity consistent with gambling and match-fixing. It also introduced a
new rule: “[p]rofessional players, teams and anyone involved in the production of CS:GO events,

should under no circumstances gamble on CS:GO matches, associate with high volume CS:GO

gamblers, or deliver information to others that might influence their CS:GO bets.” 3!

61. On its own website, Valve explained this decision in greater detail, in the
screenshot and full text reproduction below, emphasis by Valve in the original®*:

We frequently sponsor third-party events to add to their entertainment value for viewers
and broaden the audience for competitive CS:GO. To be eligible to participate in a
Valve-sponsored event, players are required to follow the rules provided by that event’s
organizers. In addition to that organizer’s rules, we expect that players who plan to
participate in any future Valve-sponsored event will hold themselves to a high standard
of professional integrity. Professional players, teams, and anyone involved in the
production of CS:GO events, should under no circumstances gamble on CS:GO matches,
associate with high volume CS:GO gamblers, or deliver information to others that might
influence their CS:GO bets. To clarify — as a professional player, team manager or event
production staff, it is common to have personal relationships and/or privileged
information about other teams and players. Because of this, we will always assume that
you have access to private CS:GO-related ““inside information’ that might give you
an unfair advantage when placing a bet on any CS:GO game or match. Betting using
inside information, or even the perception or suspicion thereof, carries a significant risk

30 https://support.steampowered.com/kb_article.php?ref=3415-WAFH-6433&l=english

31 http://en.esl-one.com/csgo/katowice-2015/news/update-on-the-offline-qualifier-including-disqualifications-
invites-and-more/

32 http://blog.counter-strike.net/index.php/unnecessary_risks/
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of damaging your personal brand, your team, your community, and may lead to exclusion
from future Valve-sponsored events. To avoid these risks, we recommend that you never
bet on any CS:GO game or match. This recommendation applies both to current
professional players and anyone who wishes to participate in a Valve-sponsored CS:GO
event in the future. It’s important to consider the substantial impact an individual
professional Counter-Strike player has on the health and stability of the sport. Performing
before an audience of millions of fans, you are ambassadors for your game — the strength
of professional Counter-Strike comes from the integrity of its players and teams.
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62. Some gambling sites, such as Diamonds, don’t even require players to wager on
the outcome of eSports matches, and simply operate roulette-style games where people risk

Skins to win more Skins based on the roll of the dice or the outcome of random number

generators>>:

33 http://csgodiamonds.com/#/
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&@4 CSGO Diamonds
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63.  As the above screenshot shows, the STEAM logo is prominently displayed and

users must login through STEAM to access and bet their Skins.

64. Valve employees communicate directly with Lounge and provide technical

support to the website, according to a Lounge employee and spokesperson.** The Valve logo is

displayed prominently on the website and users must login to their Steam account to wager on

matches on Lounge®>:

34 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/
35 https://csgolounge.com/
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* Ironwood wants to trade: (just now)

Minimal Wear| Minimal Wear

Minimal Wear Field-Tested

ST

Minimal Wear| Field-Tested

Minimal Wear| Minimal Wear

# Ishnsida wants to trade: (just now)

Field-Tested Minimal Wear

Field-Tested | Minimal Wear

Fisld-Tested Minimal Wear

Fisld-Tested Minimal Wear

* Baks wants to trade: (just now)

DB

65.
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20.06.2016 x

You'll be pleased to know that we've increased our items per bet limit!
We've increased this limit from 4 items to now 6 items per match.
1 hour ago LIVE Obey = Team Kaliber | BDS = EVLgaming
treamme Gauntlet

Obey
93%

Streamme Gauntlet

FlyingV
60%

54 minutes from now Obey = Team Kaliber Streamme Gauntlet

Obey 802
81%  faa ¥

54 minutes from now FlyingV/ = Excel eSports | BDS = EVLgaming S :
treamme Gauntlet

7 hours from now

‘World Championships

W==] .| HongKon:

T4%

Sri-Lanka
26%

In a post on Valve’s forum, a moderator — that is, a Valve spokesperson who

manages the forums on behalf of Valve — told “younger” users who think they have been

scammed through third party sites such as Lounge to not post on the forums about it. Rather,

those “younger” users who were scammed on a third-party gambling site should contact Valve

directly.*® In this post, the moderator on Steam’s own forums told users, including its “younger”

users: “Safe betting and trading!”?’
66.

with Steam or Valve:

Despite these connections, Lounge claims on its website that it is not affiliated

36 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/

37 http://steamcommunity.com/groups/csgolounge/discussions/8/627456486705186974/
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<& Install Steam'| login | languag

WSTFAM' oTe

Sign into csgolounge.com
[

1t7 You can create an account for free

67. The above screenshot shows where users are taken when they attempt to place a
bet on a match on Lounge - they must login to their Steam account through Steam/Valve’s
website.

68. Lounge acts as a sports book or pool betting system: it takes bets on each side of
matches and takes a fee from the transaction, which it then, upon information and belief, shares
with Valve.

69. Finally, once users have accumulated Skins or Knives in their Steam accounts

through third-party gambling sites, they can convert them to cash through OPSkins.
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70. OPSkins, based in Canada, links directly to a user’s Steam account as wel

©@oPsKINs

€se0 | T2 Dota2

f voéo

OPSkins
Users

1,763,673 fotal to
date

9,443 new in the past
48 hours

Next Up

PayPal cashouts from
Jun

Bitcoin cashouts from
Jun 19

Items On
Sale

905,905 currently on
sale

55,147 in a Steam
trade hold

21,984 trade locked
H1Z1 items

Itemn Transactions
in the last 48 hours.

138

CS:G0 lcons Featured E) Partners Community ~ Gift Cards ~ Add Funds

H1Z1:J8 H121:Kotk PAYDAY 2 Steam Pistols ~ Rifles ~ SMGs ~ Heavy + Knives ~ Cases v

T SAME DAY CASHOUTS

NOW OFFERING
CAMPRAV FACLINIITE

The wait is aver: today OPSkins is introducing same-day PayPal cashouts. You can now sell
your items on our website and have real-life money deposited into your PayPal account
within 24 hours.

There are several common scams targeting OPSkins users. Inform yourself so you don't fall for them!

StatTrak™ AK-47 | Case Hardened @ Flip Knife | Fade Q  AK-47 | Fire Serpent

$74.00 [ZzxorF $174.99 $278.81 [20kor

+® Suggested Price: $04.62 w° Suggested Price: $174.89 +° Suggested Price: $346.81
Inspect Add mczrt x Inspect Add to Cart a Inspect Add to Cart (ﬁ
e— Y Y e— a1

* StatTrak™ Gut Knife | Doppler Q % M9 Bayonet | Marble Fade Q & Flip Knife | Doppler

38 https://opskins.com/;

https://steamcommunity.com/openid/login?openid.ns=http %3 A %2F%2Fspecs.openid.net%2Fauth %2F2.0&openid.

mode=checkid_setup&openid.return_to=https%3A%2F %2Fopskins.com%?2Findex.php&openid.realm=https%3 A%

2F%2Fopskins.com&openid.identity=http%3 A %2F%2Fspecs.openid.net%2Fauth%2F2.0%2Fidentifier _select&ope

nid.claimed_id=http%3A%2F%2Fspecs.openid.net%2Fauth%2F2.0%2Fidentifier_select
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£ instaif Steam | |ogin

W) STEAM’ STORE COMMUNITY ABOUT SUPPORT

Sign into opskins.com usin r Steam account

117 You can create an account for free

71. Users on OPSkins can cash out their Skins for real money through their PayPal
accounts.
72. CSGOSpeed allows users to play various casino-style games, such as roulette,

coin flips, jackpots, blackjack and match betting on CS:GO matches:
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‘Q}, CSGEN z y A 5 Jukebox Available %3 SIGNIN

Jackpot

Roulette Welcome to CSGOSpeed 10 (§) The Casual Boss

be nice
Coin Flip We have all the games so you can get your favorite skin. Win big today! 10 (§) The Casual Boss
Blackjack plz

Drag Race s1 ™ sitDowninTheBoat

PN
Match Betting m ) haha bro, I'm just warming up <3

10 (§) The Casual Boss

Slot Machine Jackpot Roulette Coin Flip
One winner takes it yone can win f

Scratchy

o § lucasexplorer
Safe Box

\ T
4 - |
Blender / =50
\ _=J s1 ™ sitbowninTheBoat

Heads Up Blackjack Drag Race Match Betting Lid
_ Don't get b SR ADE S S e 10 (§) The Casual Boss

where are the snipers? i dont want to

Deposit keep losing $20 to 52

Withdraw - - @ ] s #8 Mr_Meme Csgogauntlet.com

: aw
s Sl\ot Machme ) SclatcAhy Safg BO)f

s B Smurferino#CSGOSpeed.com
Recruits

The Casual Boss gl
Giveaways

T @ 10 (§) The Casual Boss

A

[S— why doe

Support
Blender Heads Up

Information

260

Login To Chat

Users must login to Speed through their Steam account:

<& InstallSteam’| (ogin | languag

WSTFAM' STORE COMMUNITY ABOUT SUPPORT

Sign into csgospeed.com using your Steam account wg Signin
s

through
TEAM
a Note that

our Steam account will b
e our Privacy Policy for more

ou can create an account f

LV

Privacy Policy | Legal | Steam Subscriber Agreement
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74. CSGO Crash is a Skins gambling website where users place bets and try to cash
out before an arbitrary “crash” occurs on the website. Users must login through their Steam

account:

& RsisEsm] (ogn

N@:TFAM' STORE COMMUNITY ABO

Sign into csgocrash-login.com using team account

VALVE] -

Pri

75. SkinArena is a raffle and gambling website using Skins that requires users to

login through their Steam account:

quFAM' STORE COMMUNITY ABO

Sign into skinarena.com using your Steam account

VALVE]
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76. Lotto was formed on December 3, 2015, according to its Articles of
Incorporation.

77. Lotto runs a Skins pool betting website that is purely a game of chance.

78. Lotto’s users put up Skins into a large pool, and one winner is chosen at random
to take all of the Skins.

79. These Skins can be sold like real money, making Lotto a gambling website.

80. Valve admits that it allows these third-party websites, including but not limited to
Lotto, to have authenticated Steam accounts and trade on the Steam marketplace.®

81. Valve has the power to stop these third-party sites from accessing the Steam
Marketplace and engaging in gambling transactions, but chooses not to.

82. Thus, users deposit real money on Valve’s website, connect that real money
account to nominally third-party websites with direct connections to Valve where users can
participate in various forms of gambling, and then cash out their account balances, converting
Skins into real money.

83. This is an illegal scheme designed to bypass state-by-state gambling laws.

C. How Unregulated Gambling Harms Consumers

84.  Because Valve has helped to create an unregulated, international gambling
concern with no oversight that targets teenagers specifically, Plaintiff and the class have been
damaged.

85. This unregulated market is ripe for scams, cheating, fraud and other harms to

users. For instance, there have been numerous instances of match-fixing in CS:GO matches: in

http://www.dailydot.com/esports/skin-betting-csgo-lawsuit-valve/
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January 2015, it became clear that a highly qualified team of CS:GO players fixed matches
against lesser teams.*’

86. For instance, there are rigged Russian roulette websites, according to Valve.*!

87. In 2016, “reports of a particularly high-profile incident reached Valve, and the
company contacted CSGO Lounge to help identify the culprits.... In the end, Valve banned
seven players from events it sponsors, and forbade professional players and team staff from
gambling on matches, associating with high-volume gamblers, or sharing inside information.”*?

88.  In June 2016, Diamonds admitted it was providing a sponsored player with
advance notice when he would win spins on its site, so that the user would record himself
playing and winning, post this video to YouTube and social media sites, and generate excitement
and new users for Diamonds’ website.*’

89. Defendants Martin and Cassell each made multiple YouTube videos purporting to
show themselves winning Skins pools. In these videos, neither Martin or Cassell indicate that
they are owners, sponsors or otherwise affiliated with the website.**

90. These websites contain advertisements and inducements to gamble, and include
titles such as “How to Win $13,000 in 5 minutes (CS:GO Betting)”45 and “WINNING BIG
$$$$!!! (CS:GO Betting)*® and clearly depict Martin and Cassell winning large amounts of real

money — not Skins — by gambling on these sites.

40 http://www.dailydot.com/esports/match-fixing-counter-strike-ibuypower-netcode-guides/

41 http://www.dailydot.com/esports/skin-betting-csgo-lawsuit-valve/

42 http://www.bloomberg.com/features/2016-virtual-guns-counterstrike-gambling/

43 http://www.esportsbettingreport.com/csgo-diamonds-skin-betting-mQe/;
http://www.twitlonger.com/show/n_1sopll1

4 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=880XvWaczoY see also https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_8fU2QG-
1VO&feature=youtu.be (Martin announced on Twitter on July 4, 2016 that he had removed public access to his
gambling videos, stating “I privated them for the time being, they are not deleted”).

4 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_V-dS7T4WJTw

46 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-f60FbaGf9l
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91. These videos have nearly a million total views*’, and Cassell’s YouTube channel
has more than 9,000,000 subscribers.*?

92. These videos show how Martin and Cassell rig their own website to the detriment
of CS:GO players, Plaintiff and the Class.

93.  The videos and other related promotions are highly lucrative for Martin and
Cassell. For example, in 2013 alone, Martin expected to earn approximately $300,000 in revenue
from video game sponsorships and promotions.*’

94. These videos show the harm that comes to CS:GO players, Plaintiff and the Class
from having unregulated Skins gambling.

95. The YouTube channel h3h3Productions uncovered details about Martin and

Cassell’s ownership interest in Lotto, and posted a 13 minute video detailing their deceptions:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_8fU20QG-1V0Q&feature=share.

96. Martin publicly admitted to the deception in a Twitter post (that Martin later

deleted) quoted in a July 5, 2016, Forbes magazine article™:

I’ve admitted to wishing I was more upfront about owning the site.
It was always public info but I was never very outspoken about it.
My idea was to keep business business, while the focus of YouTube
was simply making entertaining content. Obviously that was
misleading to viewers and something I very much regret. I’ve never
been perfect and I 100% own up to that mistake....That being said,
everything we’ve done up until this point has been legal, that

has been a #1 priority of ours. The day it becomes illegal is

the day we cease activity.

47 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_V-dS74WITw; https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-f6OFbaG{9I

8 https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC1ieoHqKW-yY gDhLHIcx28w

4 Don Dodson, Champaign Native Turns Gaming Skills into Lucrative YouTube Career, The News-Gazette of
Champaign, Ill,, Jan. 2, 2014, available at http://www.news-gazette.com/news/local/2014-01-02/champaign-native-

turns-gaming-skills-lucrative-youtube-career.html.
59 Paul Tassi, CS:GO Lotto Controversy Raises Issues About YouTuber Disclosure, Valve’s Indifference, Forbes

Tech, July 5, 2016, available at http://www.forbes.com/sites/insertcoin/2016/07/05/cs-go-lotto-controversy-raises-
issues-about-youtuber-disclosure-valves-indifference/#5a6ff45a4500
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97. Plaintiff’s minor son would not have played on sites such as Diamonds and Lotto
if he knew that Diamonds and Lotto were manipulating their products and videos to make it
appear as if the people winning were actually winning, and instead were coordinating behind the
scenes to misrepresent their websites.

98. After Martin and Cassell’s deception became known, Valve intervened, for a
short time. On July 4, 2016, Valve cut off access to Lotto to the Steam Marketplace after news
of Lotto’s owners YouTube videos, discussed above, was reported in the news.

99. The website pcgamesn.com’! reported that “a message from Valve...warns that

[Lotto] has been flagged as ‘phishing, scamming, spamming, or delivering malware.’”

R&J STEAM'

The URL you are attempting to log in to has been blocked by our moderators and staff. This site may be
engaged in phishing, scamming, spamming, or delivering malware.

100. However, Valve still allows users to continue on and bet their Skins on this
account even though it says it was blocked for being “engaged in phishing, scamming,

spamming, or delivering malware.”

51 http://www.pcgamesn.com/counter-strike-global-offensive/csgolotto-csgo-gambling-tmartn-prosyndicate
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101.  The action by Valve to limit access to Lotto definitively proves that Valve, if it
wanted to, could cut off access by gambling sites such as Lounge, Diamonds, Lotto, or any other
website with Skins gambling. However, Valve has chosen to continue facilitating gambling
within its Steam marketplace.

102.  Valve continues to defraud consumers by not recognizing the gambling ecosystem
for what it is, and knowingly telling consumers that Lotto was blocked because of reasons other
than that unregulated gambling harms consumers, and Lotto is just the only one to be publicly
caught.

103.  Valve knows that there are websites in Russia that have rigged roulette and other
casino-style games, yet continues to allow those websites, and websites with other gambling
games, to operate within the Steam Marketplace on Valve’s servers, even though it has the
power, ability, and duty to cut off access like it did to Lotto.

104. After calling Lotto a potential scam website, Valve reversed course and
eliminated the webpage warning, allowing teenagers and the class full access to Lotto from the
Valve account.

105. In explaining this decision, a Valve agent, employee and/or representative with
the online screen name “KillahInstinct”? told users on Reddit.com that a volunteer for Valve
blocked Lotto erroneously. Specifically, KillahInstinct said that Lotto was added to the “URL
blacklist” which is “generally only used for malicious® links and blocks links throughout Steam
everywhere and therefor used with extreme caution.” By “malicious”, KillahInstinct meant
“malware, phishing, scam sites” and noted that “[a]s we all know, there are a lot of them out
there.” (emphasis by Killahlnstinct). That is, Valve is aware that because of the real-world value

of Skins, there are “a lot” of scam and malicious websites that target the users of CS:GO.

52 https://www.reddit.com/r/GlobalOffensive/comments/4r7pOa/csgo_lotto_banned_on_steam/
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106. KillahInstinct went on to explain that it was a “mistake” to block Lotto by a
fellow volunteer employee of Valve because Killahlnstinct was on vacation. Further,
KillahInstinct made it clear that he was “not commenting if [Lotto] is bad, morally wrong, etc. - I
am just saying that I haven't seen evidence of that it's malicious in the way that it should be
before we add something to a global filter.” 3

107. A user then asked how Valve decides which gambling sites are allowed, and
KillahInstinct replied, “Simple, we don’t. As I said, we only block malicious sites.” >4

108. KillahInstinct went on to explain that pure Skins gambling websites like
CSGOlJackpot.com, CSGoDouble and CSGoShuffle are “legit” and that if one of them is banned
it can contact Steam support to remove the ban. That is, a Valve employee discussed gambling
websites as “legit” and admitted that Valve’s support team can help gambling websites regain
access to the Steam marketplace.

109. For instance, KillahInstinct communicated directly with a reddit user who
complained that his website, bitskins.com, which is used for people to cash out their Skins into
real money, was blacklisted. In response, Killahlnstinct told this person to contact Valve’s
Steam Support directly to fix this issue. This means that Valve is working directly with
companies that cash out Skins for real money to help them access the Steam Marketplace when
they lose that access.

110. KillahInstinct admitted that Valve is allowing the Skins gambling economy to

continue and that he does not like how the Skins gambling community has become and that “it’s

all about profit, but I can hardly fault Valve for that.”>

3 https://www.reddit.com/r/GlobalOffensive/comments/4r7p0a/csgo_lotto_banned_on_steam/
34 https://www.reddit.com/r/GlobalOffensive/comments/4r7pOa/csgo_lotto_banned_on_steam/
33 https://www.reddit.com/r/GlobalOffensive/comments/4r7p0a/csgo_lotto_banned _on_steam/d4zx0Ohe
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111. KillahInstinct admitted that if they blocked Lotto because its owners were a scam
website that rigged the gambling games and made videos of themselves gambling on their own
sites, “I think we could end up blocking every gamble (sic) site if that were the case. Having
proof of malware/scams of a site is not the same as dodgy business practices.” >

112.  In another post, KillahInstinct said that Valve could disable bot accounts, like
those used for effectuating and facilitating gambling, if it chose to.’

113. In sum, Valve has the technical capabilities to block access to any gambling site it
chooses to, but has made an affirmative decision to instead work directly with third-party
gambling websites to give them access to Valve’s computers in order to facilitate their gambling
transactions.

D. Plaintiff’s Specific Allegations

114.  Plaintiff’s minor son first purchased CS:GO and made deposits into his Steam
wallet accounts when he was a minor child under the age of 18. Therefore, any arbitration
agreement Valve may seek to enforce is an unenforceable contract for numerous reasons, not
limited to the inability of minors to enter into legally binding contracts.

115. Plaintiff is bringing claims on behalf of herself and all other parents whose
teenagers played CS:GO and used funds from their parents and/or guardians.

116. Plaintiff was not aware that Skins were purchased and used to place online bets on
other gambling websites. Her understanding was that her minor son was using her accounts and

money on numerous occasions to buy something to be used in his video game similar to other in-

game or in-app purchases.

36 https://www.reddit.com/r/GlobalOffensive/comments/4r7pOa/csgo_lotto_banned_on_steam/
57 https://www.reddit.com/r/Steam/comments/4r97he/video_series_teaching_how_to_make steamcommunity/
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117. Had Plaintiff been aware that her minor son was using her money to purchase
Skins to be used for gambling, she would not have allowed him to make these purchases.

118. Valve is well aware that their users are teenagers. Steam’s account requires users
to check a box indicating they are 13 years of age or older, and does not require users to read the

Subscriber Agreement before creating a Steam account’®;

Two-button mouse strongly recommended

STEAM@ SUBSCRIBER AGREEMENT 1GB HD space (recommended)

Internet connection (broadband recommended)
This Steam Subscriber Agreement ("Agreement”) is a legal document that explains your rights and

obligations as a subscriber of Steam from either Valve Corporation (“Valve”) or, as applicable, Valve
S.arl (*Valve EU”). Please read it carefully.

SECTION 11 CONTAINS A BINDING ARBITRATION AGREEMENT AND CLASS ACTION WAIVER. IT Leamn more about Steam.
MAY AFFECT YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS. PLEASE READ IT.

1. REGISTRATION AS A SUBSCRIBER; APPLICATION OF TERMS TO YOU; YOUR ACCOUNT
Steam is an online service offered by Valve

You become a subscriber of Steam ("Subscriber") by completing the registration of a Steam user
account. This Agreement takes effect as soon as you indicate your acceptance of these terms

A. Contracting Party

For any interaction with Steam other than the purchase of physical merchandise, your contractual
relationship is with Valve. Except as otherwise indicated at the time of the transaction (such as in the
case of purchases from another Subscriber in a Subscription Marketplace), any transactions for
Subscriptions (as defined below) you make on Steam are being made from Valve

Sales of physical merchandise (“Hardware”) via Steam shall be governed by the following terms:

B | agree AND am 13 years of age or older

Valve Privacy Policy Create my account

ABOUT STEAM ABOUT VALVE HELP NEWS FEEDS

V A L V V/a ided in ¢ v A At Privacy Policy Legal Steam Subscriber Agreement Refunds

119. Plaintiff’s minor son signed into his Steam account through the third-party
websites Lounge, Lotto and Crash.
120.  Plaintiff’s minor son purchased CS:GO on April 5, 2015 and then again on

September 13, 2015. He created his Steam accounts when he was 14 and 15 years old. Plaintiff’s

38 https://store.steampowered.com/join/?
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minor son created two different Steam accounts so he can play with his friends on one account
because he was ranked too high on his original account to play with his friends who had much
lower rankings.

121.  Plaintiff’s minor son, without Plaintiff’s knowledge, purchased Skins, cases and
keys from Valve and paid Valve a fee to do so on numerous occasions, including, but not limited
to, May 5, 2015, May 4, 2015, April 29, 2015, April 27, 2015, April 23, 2015, April 21, 2015,
April 5, 2015,May 24, 2015, May 20, 2015, May 7, 2015, May 6, 2015, May 7, 2015, July 30,
2015, July 19, 2015,June 17, 2015, July 15, 2015, July 14, 2015, July 13, 2015, September 19,
2015, September 16, 2015, September 14, 2015, September 13, 2015, January 17, 2016, January
16, 2016, January 15, 2016, December 12, 2015, December 9, 2015, November 9, 2015,
November 3, 2015, June 3, 2016, June 2, 2016, May15, 2016, April 22, 2016, March 3, 2016,
February 10, 2016, , June 27, 2016 and June 3, 2016. .

122.  Plaintiff’s minor son was aware Skins had real world value and could be cashed
out on sites such as OPSkins.

123.  Plaintiff’s minor son, without Plaintiff’s knowledge, then used those Skins to
place bets on Lounge, Lotto, Diamonds and Crash through trading Skins to each via his Steam
accounts, hosted and facilitated by Valve, and lost Skins, and therefore the real world cash value
of these Skins, in these transactions.

124.  Plaintiff’s minor son, without Plaintiff’s knowledge, had transactions with
OPSkins on February 11, 2016, and again on February 12, 2016, and Plaintiff’s minor son,
without Plaintiff’s knowledge, lost Skins with real world value in these transactions, and also

won a Skins jackpot in one transaction.
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CLASS ALLEGATIONS

125. A class action is the proper form to bring Plaintiff’s claims under FRCP 23. The
potential Class is so large that joinder of all members would be impracticable. Additionally, there
are questions of law or fact common to the Class, the claims or defenses of the representative
parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the Class, and the representative parties will fairly
and adequately protect the interests of the Class.

126. This action satisfies all of the requirements of FRCP, including numerosity,
commonality, typicality, adequacy, predominance and superiority.

127. Numerosity: the Class is so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable. While the exact number is not known at this time, it is generally ascertainable by
appropriate discovery. News accounts discuss how millions of users compete on the websites of
Defendants and its unnamed co-conspirators.

128. Commonality: the claims made by Plaintiff meet the commonality requirement
because they present shared questions of law and fact, and resolving these questions will resolve
the classwide litigation. These shared questions predominate over individual questions, and they
include, without limitation:

a. Whether Plaintiff and members of the Class entered into contracts with
Defendants over the past four years;

b. Whether such contracts are per se void, pursuant to Florida law;

¢. Whether such contracts are void pursuant to Florida civil law;

d. Whether the Terms of Use are unconscionable, illusory, fraudulent, or otherwise
invalid;

e. Whether Plaintiff and members of the Class paid monies to Defendants in
consideration of those contracts;

f. Whether Valve’s operations, and those of third-party websites Valve supports,
including but not limited to Lotto, are games of chance under all applicable laws

and rules;
g. Whether the operations of Valve and Lotto violate Florida law;
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h. Whether Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to restitution and entitled
to recovery of lost wagers from Valve, Lotto, Martin and Cassell, or the
disgorgement of profits from Valve’s profits in illegal gambling;

i. Whether Defendants acted in concert with other CSGO gambling sites to
condone, allow, or promote the practice of betting and gambling through the use
of CSGO items;

j. Whether Defendants were negligent or otherwise acted wrongfully in allowing
and encouraging users to utilize their service to bet and gamble on CSGO games;

k. Whether Defendants owed duties to the Plaintiff and the proposed Class members,
the scope of those duties, and if they breached those duties;

1.  Whether consumers such as the Plaintiff and the proposed Class members were
harmed by Defendants’ actions, as described in detail above;

m. The extent of the damages caused by the Defendants’ acts; and

Whether Defendants violated Florida state consumer protection statutes, as well

as the consumer protection statutes of other states.

B

129. Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the other Class members
because Plaintiff, like every other Class member, was induced to use Defendants’ sites based on
false and misleading advertisements of fair play, and lack of information about having to
compete against players with inside information.

130. The claims of the Class Representative Plaintiff are furthermore typical of other
Class members because they make the same claims as other class members. Plaintiff has an
interest in seeking compensation from Defendants.

131. Adequacy: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests
of the Class in that he has no disabling conflicts of interest that would be antagonistic to those of
the other members of the Class. Plaintiff seeks no relief that is antagonistic or adverse to the
members of the Class and the infringement of the rights and the damages he has suffered are
typical of other Class members.

132.  Superiority: The class litigation is an appropriate method for fair and efficient
adjudication of the claims involved. Class action treatment is superior to all other available

methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy alleged herein; it will permit a

34



Case 0:16-cv-61561-BB Document 5 Entered on FLSD Docket 07/07/2016 Page 35 of 53

large number of class members to prosecute their common claims in a single forum
simultaneously, efficiently, and without the unnecessary duplication of evidence, effort and
expense that hundreds of individual actions would require. Class action treatment will permit the
adjudication of relatively modest claims by certain class members, who could not individually
afford to litigate a complex claim against large corporate defendants. Further, even for those
class members who could afford to litigate such a claim, it would still be economically
impractical.

133.  The nature of this action and the nature of Florida and federal laws available to
Plaintiff and the Class makes the use of the class action device a particularly efficient and
appropriate procedure to afford relief to Plaintiff and the Class for the wrongs alleged. Without
the class action mechanism, Defendants would necessarily gain an unconscionable advantage
since they would be able to exploit and overwhelm the limited resources of each individual Class
member with superior financial and legal resources; and the costs of individual suits could
unreasonably consume the amounts that would be recovered. Likewise, proof of a common
course of conduct to which Plaintiff was exposed is representative of that experienced by the
Class, and will establish the right of each member of the Class to recover on the cause of action
alleged; and Individual actions would create a risk of inconsistent results and would be
unnecessary and duplicative of this litigation.

134.  The proposed Class is described as follows:

“All persons in the United States whose money was used to

purchase Skins in any account with Defendants and/or their
unnamed co-conspirators”

35



Case 0:16-cv-61561-BB Document 5 Entered on FLSD Docket 07/07/2016 Page 36 of 53

135.  Plaintiff reserves the right to modify or amend the definition of the proposed class
and to modify, amend or remove proposed subclasses, before the Court determines whether
certification is appropriate and as the parties engage in discovery.

136.  Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class. The interests
of the class representative are consistent with those of the other members of the Class. In
addition, Plaintiff is represented by experienced and able counsel who have expertise in the areas
of tort law, trial practice, and class action representation.

137. The class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy. Because of the number and nature of common questions of fact
and law, multiple separate lawsuits would not serve the interest of judicial economy.

138. Excluded from the Class are:

a. Defendants and any entities in which Defendants has a controlling
interest;

b. Any entities in which Defendants’ officers, directors, or employees are
employed and any of the legal representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns
of Defendants;

c. The Judge to whom this case is assigned and any member of the Judge’s
immediate family and any other judicial officer assigned to this case;

d. All persons or entities that properly execute and timely file a request for
exclusion from the Class;

e. Any attorneys representing the Plaintiff or the Class.

COUNT 1

RESTITUTION PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 849, et seq.

139.  Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and the proposed Class, repeats and realleges all
preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

140. Florida Statutes Section 849.08, et seq., defines gambling in a manner that
encompasses the activities by Valve, OPSkins and Skins Gambling Websites including Lotto.

141.  Section 849.26 renders all contracts for gambling null and void.
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142.  Plaintiff and members of the Class entered into contracts with Lounge, OPSkins,
Lotto and other Skins Gambling Websites that are void. Specifically, Plaintiff created a Steam
account in 2014 and entered into transactions with Defendants in which he purchased Skins as
described above. He then gambled the Skins, frequently betting Skins worth $20 each and losing
their equivalent cash value, including on Lotto.

143.  Plaintiff’s minor son purchased and gambled Skins.

144.  Plaintiff and members of the Class paid monies in consideration of these contracts
that are void.

145.  Accordingly, Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to damages in the
form of restitution for monies paid in connection with these void and illegally enforced contracts
over the course of the past four (4) years.

COUNT II
UNJUST ENRICHMENT

146. Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and the proposed Class, repeats and realleges all
proceeding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

147.  Plaintiff and members of the proposed Class conferred a benefit on Defendants by
purchasing CS:GO, depositing money, purchasing in-game items, and playing in contests on
various websites with which Valve had a financial relationship.

148. Defendants have further benefited monetarily from unlawful and/or illegal
conduct directed to its customers in Florida, including from Plaintiff and members of the class.

149. Defendants’ benefit came at the expense and detriment of Plaintiff and Class
members.

150. Defendants have thus unjustly enriched themselves in retaining the revenues

derived from enforcement of illegal contracts, deposits, wagers, purchases and gambling by
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Plaintiff and the members of the proposed class, which retention under these circumstances is
unjust and inequitable because Defendants entered into or caused to be created illegal, voidable,
and unconscionable gambling contracts with Plaintiff and other members of the proposed class,
and has created an illegal international gambling economy operating in the United States and
targeted at teenagers.

151. Defendants have benefited from its creation of an illegal gambling scheme
through the creation of Skins and the assistance provided to international companies that provide
ways to gamble Skins and convert in-game Skins with no cash value into cash value. Defendants
have also benefited from the creation of an illegal gambling market by inflating the value of
Skins, something with no intrinsic value, which they then sell or facilitate selling for a fee.
Defendants have also benefited from the increased sales, increased exposure, marketing revenue,
sponsorship revenue and other financial benefits that CS:GO has brought Valve and Lotto
because of their popularity, which is due almost entirely to Skins gambling.

152. Plaintiff and members of the proposed class were injured as a direct and
proximate result of Defendants’ illegal activities because they paid for items and wagers that
were unregulated, illegal gambling activities ripe for fraud, abuse and theft, and with no way of
knowing whether they were fairly run.

153. Because Defendants’ retention of the non-gratuitous benefit conferred on it by
Plaintiff and the members of the proposed class is unjust and inequitable, Defendants must pay
restitution to Plaintiff and the members of the proposed class for its unjust enrichment, as
ordered by the Court.

154. Equity and good conscience require that Defendants disgorge its profits made

thereby, and Plaintiff and members of the class further seek restitution on this basis.
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COUNT I
VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. § 1962

155. Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and the proposed class, repeats and realleges all
preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

156. The Skins Gambling Websites, Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell and OPSkins are all
“persons” under the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961(3).

157. Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, the Skins Gambling Websites, and OPSkins’s
illegal gambling businesses involve five or more persons who conduct, finance, manage,
supervise, direct and/or own all or part of Valve, Lotto, the Skins Gambling Sites, and OPSkins,
within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1955.

158. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1962:

It shall be unlawful for any person who has received any income derived, directly
or indirectly, form a pattern of racketeering activity or through collection of an
unlawful debt... to use or invest, directly or indirectly, any part of such income,
or the proceeds of such income, in acquisition of any interest in, or the
establishment or operation of, any enterprise which is engaged in, or the activities
of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce.

159. Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell and the other non-defendant third-parties identified
above in Paragraph 5 named in this count violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) by participating in,
facilitating, or conducting the affairs of the Valve, Lounge, OPSkins, Lotto and/or Diamonds
RICO Enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity.

160. Valve, Lotto, OPSkins, and the Skins Gambling Websites are operating illegal
online gambling websites within Florida. Skins Gambling Websites including Lotto and OPSkins

all depend on Valve to operate their businesses to facilitate gambling, trades of items, as well as

item sales. These entities also rely on a third-party market, like the one hosted by OPSkins and
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other websites, in order to provide a way for gamblers to cash out their in-game items for cash
value, to process these payments, and to set the real world valuation for these items.

161. Skins Gambling Websites, OPSkins, Lotto and Valve are the ringleaders of their
respective illegal gambling enterprises, as set forth herein.

162. Martin and Cassell are specifically the ringleaders at Lotto.

163. Independently and collectively, Valve, Lotto, Martin, and Cassell responsible for
facilitating the growth of the illegal internet gambling enterprises, such as those operated by
Skins Gambling Websites and OPSkins, that blossomed into a billion dollar industry because
they created and provided legitimacy and support for what is, in fact, an illegal gambling
activity.

164. Valve provided money, technical support, and advice for Skins Gambling
Websites and OPSkins, providing legitimacy to the illegal gambling that was occurring,
continues to occur, and by permitting Skins Gambling Websites and OPSkins to use their logo
and infrastructure to attract more bettors.

165. Plaintiff’s minor son, using his mother’s financial resources, placed bets on
multiple contests through Skins Gambling Websites including Lotto. The wagers allow Lotto and
other sites to operate and profit. The bets were facilitated by Valve, and Valve permits users to
buy and sell the winnings of such bets on OPSkins.

166. Valve, Lotto, Martin, and Cassell have a direct interest in the operation of
OPSkins, Lotto, and Skins Gambling Websites because they profit directly and indirectly
through the online gambling websites.

167. Valve’s processing of transactions facilitated by Lotto, Skins Gambling Websites

and the OPSkins illegal gambling scheme, implicates Valve into the Skins Gambling Websites
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gambling scheme by directing, conducting, guiding, and participating, directly or indirectly, in
the conduct of an enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity and/or collection of an
unlawful debt.

168. As aresult of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiff has suffered financial losses.

169. Plaintiff and class members are “person[s] injured in his or her business or
property” by reason of Skins Gambling Websites’ and OPSkins’s and Valve’s violation of RICO
within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).

170. The acts alleged herein occurred more than three times and on a daily bases.

171.  Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964, Plaintiff is entitled to recover treble damages, costs
and attorneys’ fees for his damages proximately caused by Defendant’s RICO enterprise.

A. Predicate Act — Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1955

172. Independently and collectively, Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell and the unnamed
co-conspirators in this Count are responsible for the growth of the illegal enterprise to become a
billion-dollar business by providing legitimacy to what was, in fact, an illegal activity. The mere
act of allowing Plaintiff, and other members of the Class, to sign into Steam through Skins
Gambling Websites and OPSkins bolstered the credibility of the illegal enterprises in the eyes of
unsuspecting bettors.

173. Martin and Cassell further provided legitimacy to the illegal activity by
publishing videos on YouTube and other sites that promoted Lotto as a way to win money by
gambling, when they rigged the results and/or did not disclosure their ownership and control
over Lotto.

174.  Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell and the unnamed co-conspirators all committed a

Predicate Act under RICO, violation 18 U.S.C. § 1955, which provides in relevant part:
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(a) Whoever conducts, finances, manages, supervises, directs, or owns all or part
of an illegal gambling business shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than
five years, or both.

(b) As used in this section—

1. “Illegal gambling business” means a gambling business which—is a
violation of the law of a State or political subdivision in which it is conducted; involves
five or more persons who conduct, finance, manage, supervise, direct, or own all or part
of such business; and has been or remains in substantially continuous operation for a

period in excess of thirty days or has a gross revenue of $2,000 in any single day.
sk

(4) “gambling” includes but is not limited to pool-selling, bookmaking,
maintaining slot machines, roulette wheels or dice tables, and conducting lotteries,

policy, bolita or numbers games, or selling chances therein.
sk

(6) “State” means any State of the United States, the District of Columbia,
the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and any territory or possession of the United States.

175. Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites and OPSkins are illegal
gambling businesses because they meet all three elements of 18 U.S.C. § 1955(b)(1-3).

176. Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites and OpSkins are each
“illegal gambling business” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1955(b)(1), because, as set forth
herein, each of their activities violate all state laws and at a minimum, Florida. “State” means
any State of the United States. 18 U.S.C. § 1955(b)(6).

177. Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites and OpSkins are each an
“illegal gambling business” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1955(b)(2), because each
respective business involves five or more persons who conduct, finance, manage, supervise,
direct, or own all or part of the business.

178.  Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites and OpSkins are each an
“illegal gambling business” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1955(b)(3), because each have
been or remain in substantially continuous operation since at least January 1, 2013, for a period

in excess of thirty days or has a gross revenue of $2,000 in any single day.
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B. The Online Gambling RICO Enterprises

179.  The following persons, and others presently unknown, have been members of and
constitute an “association-in-fact enterprise” within the meaning of RICO,:

180. Lotto, who 1) created an illegal gambling enterprise; 2) knowingly created and
conducted illegal gambling activities in violation of all state laws and at a minimum, Florida in
return for payment of items of value, including significant sums of money; 3) conducted,
directed, managed, supervised, directed and owned an illegal gambling business in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1955.

181. Martin, who: 1) created an illegal gambling enterprise; 2) knowingly created and
conducted illegal gambling activities in violation of all state laws and at a minimum, Florida in
return for payment of items of value, including significant sums of money; 3) conducted,
directed, managed, supervised, directed and owned an illegal gambling business in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1955.

182. Cassell, who: 1) created an illegal gambling enterprise; 2) knowingly created and
conducted illegal gambling activities in violation of all state laws and at a minimum, Florida in
return for payment of items of value, including significant sums of money; 3) conducted,
directed, managed, supervised, directed and owned an illegal gambling business in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1955.

183. Skins Gambling Websites, who: 1) created an illegal gambling enterprise; 2)
knowingly created and conducted illegal gambling activities in violation of all state laws and at a
minimum, Florida in return for payment of items of value, including significant sums of money;
3) conducted, directed, managed, supervised, directed and owned an illegal gambling business in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1955.

43



Case 0:16-cv-61561-BB Document 5 Entered on FLSD Docket 07/07/2016 Page 44 of 53

184. Valve, who: 1) knowingly facilitated the transactions required to conduct the
illegal gambling operations of Lotto, as well as CSGO Lounge and CSGO Diamonds; 2)
provided technical support and know-how to Lotto, CSGO Lounge and CSGO Diamonds, to
permit them to link their own database of users with Steam users. By virtue of this support,
implicit promotion and endorsement of Defendants’ illegal internet gambling enterprises, Valve
thereby gave credibility and legitimacy to these defendants and thus attracted more players to
participate as customers in an illegal gambling enterprise.

185. OPSKins, who: 1) knowingly facilitated transactions of users buying, selling, and
general cashing-out of items users gained through participation on Skins Gambling Websites
illegal gambling enterprises. This support entices and attracts users of all ages to participate on
defendants gambling websites so that they might win more valuable items in the hopes of being
able to turn an in-game currency into real money.

186. Skins Gambling Websites, each of which engaged in, and whose activities
affected interstate and foreign commerce, is an association-in-fact of individuals and corporate
entities within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4) and consists of “persons” associated together
for a common purpose. Each RICO enterprise had an ongoing organization with an ascertainable
structure, and functioned as a continuing unit with separate roles and responsibilities.

187. Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites and OpSkins each
participated in the RICO enterprise, but also had an existence separate and distinct from the
enterprise.

188. At all relevant times, Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites,
and OpSkins operated, controlled, or managed their respective CSGO gambling services through

a variety of actions.
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189. Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites, and OpSkins
participation in the RICO enterprise was necessary for the successful operation of its scheme to
conduct an illegal gambling enterprise, both companies controlled and monitored all aspects of
eGaming betting and gambling on its respective website and concealed the nature and scope of
the illegal gambling enterprise and profited from such concealment.

190. The members of the gambling enterprise served a common purpose: to maximize
profits on their respective illegal gambling sites and to collect as many rare in-games item as
possible in order to profit from the resale of these items on the third-party market through the use
of user fees and bets.

C. The Pattern of Racketeering Activity

191.  Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites, and OpSkins conducted
and participated in the conduct and the affairs of their respective Online Gambling Enterprises
through a pattern of illegal internet gambling pursuant to violations of 18 U.S.C. §1955 thereby
constituting racketeering activity that has lasted for several years beginning no later than January
1, 2013, and continuing to this day, and that consisted of numerous and repeated violations of 18
U.S.C. §1955, mail and wire fraud statutes, which prohibit the use of any interstate or foreign
mail or wire facility for the purpose of executing a scheme to defraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1341 and 1343.

192.  The purpose of Valve, Skins Gambling Websites, and OpSkins and the scheme to
violate 18 U.S.C. § 1955 was to profit through illegal internet gambling.

193. By concealing the scope and nature of each illegal gambling enterprise, Valve,
Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites, and OpSkins also maintained and boosted

consumer confidence in their respective illegal internet gambling enterprises, their brands, and e-
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sports betting, all of which furthered their schemes to defraud and helped Valve, Lotto, Martin,
Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites, and OpSkins generate more users to play their bet and
gamble on their respective sites.

194. As detailed in this Complaint, Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling
Websites, and OpSkins were well aware that their enterprises constituted illegal internet
gambling under federal and individual United States law. Nonetheless, they used money
generated from innocent bettors to intentionally subject Plaintiff and Class Members to those
risks or consciously disregarded those risks in order to maximize their profits at the expense of
Plaintiffs and Class Members.

195. To carry out, or attempt to carry out the scheme to defraud, Valve, Lotto, Martin,
Cassell, Lounge, OpSkins and Diamonds each individually conducted or participated in the
conduct of the affairs of their respective RICO Enterprises through the following pattern of
racketeering activity that violated 18 U.S.C. § 1955 and employed the use of the mail and wire
facilities, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (mail fraud) and § 1343 (wire fraud):

a. Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites, and OpSkins devised
and furthered their own schemes to defraud by use of the mail, telephone, and
internet, and transmitted, or caused to be transmitted, by means of mail and wire
communication travelling in interstate or foreign commerce, user fees and illegal
gambling proceeds, writing(s) and/or signal(s), including their respective
websites, statements to the press, and communications with other members of
their respective RICO Enterprises, as well as the user fees and transactional costs
of the illegal internet gambling activities, advertisements and other

communications to the Plaintiffs and Class Members; and
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b. Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites, and OpSkins each
individually utilized the interstate and international mail and wires for the purpose
of obtaining money or property by means of the omissions, false pretense, and
misrepresentations described herein.

196. The Defendants’ separate pattern of racketeering activity in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1955 and the use of the mail and wire fraud statutes included but was not limited to the
following:

a. Knowingly conducting illegal gambling activities that violated, at a minimum, the
laws of the state of Florida and thereby also violating 18 U.S.C. §1955, a RICO
predicate act;

b. By transmitting, causing to be transmitted, by means of mail and wire
communication and the internet, by travelling in interstate or foreign commerce,
between their offices in Washington, Florida, and various other locations across
the United States, communications concealing the illegality of their schemes on
their betting websites on a nationwide basis.

197. The conduct of Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites, and
OpSkins in furtherance of their respective illegal activities and gaming was intentional. Plaintiff
and Class members were directly harmed as a result of Defendants’ conduct.

198.  As set forth herein Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites, and
OpSkins engaged in patterns of related and continuous predicate acts since at least August 1,
2013. The predicate acts constituted a variety of unlawful activities with each conducted with the
common goal of defrauding Plaintiff and other Class members and obtaining significant monies

and revenues from them while providing an illegal betting website. These predicate acts were
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related and not isolated events. Further, the predicate acts also had the same or similar results,
participants, victims, and methods of commission.

199. Because of the pattern of racketeering activity by Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell,
Skins Gambling Websites, and OpSkins, Plaintiff and Class members have been injured in their
business and/or property in multiple ways, including but not limited to the loss of their items,
wagers, and fees lost when wagering and betting.

200. The violations by Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling Websites and
OpSkins of 18 U.S.C. § 1955 and 18 U.S.C.§ 1962(c) have directly and proximately caused
injuries and damages to Plaintiff and Class members in the form of their losses while betting on
defendants’ illegal gambling websites. As such, Plaintiff and Class members are entitled to bring
this class action for three times their actual damages, as well as injunctive and equitable relief
and costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).

201. As a result of the actions of Valve, Lotto, Martin, Cassell, Skins Gambling
Websites and OpSkins, Plaintiff has suffered losses in an amount to be determined at trial.

COUNT 1V
VIOLATIONS OF FLORIDA DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES
(“FDUTPA”)
FL. STAT. § 501.201, ET. SEQ.

202. Plaintiff repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference each of the foregoing
allegations as though fully set forth herein.

203. At all times relevant hereto, the FDUTPA was in full force and effect. Section
501.202 Fla. Stat. of FDUTPA provides in relevant part as follows:

501.202 The provisions of this part shall be constured liberally to
promote the following policies:
(1) To simplify, clarify, and modernize the law governing

consumer protection, unfair methods of competition, and
unconscionable, deceptive, and unfair trade practices.
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(2) To protect the consuming public and legitimate business
enterprises from those who engage in unfair methods of
competition, or unconscionable, deceptive, or unfair acts or
practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce.

(3) To make state consumer protection and enforcement consistent
with established policies of federal law relating to consumer
protection.

204. At all relevant times hereto, the Defendants were prohibited by FDUTPA from
engaging in unfair deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of their business in the State of
Florida. The actions of the Defendants constitute a violation of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair
Trade Practices Act, Fla. Stat. Section 501/202, et seq., in that such actions were immoral,
unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous, offend public policy, and caused substantial injury to
consumers, including Plaintiff and Class members, and were done with reckless indifference to
the rights of the Plaintiff and Florida Class members.

205. The actions of Defendants furthermore violated fair-advertising guidelines
promulgated by the Federal Trade Commission, when they failed to disclose business
connections and were therefore misleading to consumers.>

206. The actions of the Defendants as described in this complaint caused the Plaintiff
and class members to suffer actual and ascertainable injuries, damages, loss of money and
property.

207. The above-described deceptive and unfair acts offend public policy and cause
substantial injury to consumers.

208. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing, the Plaintiff and the Florida

Sub-Class members have been damaged in an amount to be determined at trial, including

% Federal Trade Commission, FTC’s Endorsement Guides, What People Are Asking (stating that, “... In addition,
the Guides say if there’s a connection between an endorser and the marketer that consumers would not expect and it
would affect how consumers evaluate the endorsement, that connection should be disclosed.”), available at
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/documents/plain-language/pdf-0205-endorsement-guides-fags_0.pdf
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compensatory damages and other miscellaneous incidental and consequential damages.

209. Plaintiff and the Florida Sub-Class members seek damages, together with
appropriate punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, costs of suit pursuant to the FDUTPA as well as
any equitable relief to enjoin Defendants from engaging in the wrongdoing described herein.

COUNT V
FRAUD AND MISREPRESENTATION AGAINST
LOTTO, MARTIN AND CASSELL

210. Plaintiff repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference each of the foregoing
allegations as though fully set forth herein.

211. Defendants Lotto, Martin and Cassell made material representations that were
false, that they knew were false or were reckless as to their veracity, and that were made with the
inducement for Plaintiff and the class to act upon.

212.  Specifically, and as detailed above, Defendants represented that Plaintiff and the
public could win large sums of money through the gambling of digital skins on Lotto.

213.  Specifically, and as detailed above, Defendants Martin and Cassell willfully failed
to disclose that they were the owners and agents of Lotto, and as such they were able to decide
the outcome of the contests which they entered, even though they held themselves out to the
public as being disinterested contestants in Lotto’s gambling operation.

214. Plaintiff and the proposed classes acted in reliance on the false, material
representations and omissions made by Defendants, which caused them injury.

215. Plaintiff and the proposed classes would not have spent money on skins in
response to the online videos published by Martin and Cassell if they had known of the
ownership interest of Martin and Cassell in Lotto.

216. Martin and Cassell also engaged in fraud by willfully operating and controlling an
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illegal and unregulated gambling enterprise, and promoting Lotto for use by U.S. teenagers and
minors.

217. All of the U.S. users of Lotto were engaged in illegal gambling activity, but the
actions of Martin and Cassell are even more reprehensible because they targeted teenagers and
minors who were not able to give legal consent and were unsophisticated due to their age and
lack of awareness about the consequences of gambling.

218.  As aresult of Defendants’ fraudulent representations and omissions, Plaintiff and
the proposed class were induced to spend money on skins and gamble the skins on Lotto, which

caused them to suffer financial injury, harm and damages as described in this Complaint.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and members of the proposed class pray for relief and judgment

against Defendants, as follows:

a. For an order certifying the proposed classes, appointing Plaintiff and their
counsel to represent the proposed class and notice to the proposed classes
to be paid by Defendants;

b. For damages suffered by Plaintiff and members of the proposed class;

C. For restitution to Plaintiff and the proposed class of all monies wrongfully
obtained by Defendants;

d. For injunctive relief requiring Defendants to cease and desist from
engaging in the unlawful, unfair, and/or deceptive practices alleged in the
Complaint;

e. An order awarding declaratory relief, retrospective and prospective

injunctive relief as permitted by law or equity, including enjoining
Defendants from continuing the unlawful practices as set forth herein, and
injunctive relief to remedy Defendants’ past conduct;

f. For Plaintiff’s reasonable attorneys’ fees, as permitted by law;

g. For Plaintiff’s costs incurred;
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h. For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the maximum allowable
rate on any amounts awarded; and

1. For such other and further relief that this Court deems just and proper
under equity or law, including the award of punitive damages.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all counts so triable.

Dated: July 7, 2016 By: /s/ D. Todd Mathews
D. Todd Mathews, 163104
GORI JULIAN & ASSOCIATES, P.C.
Attorneys at Law
156 N. Main St.
Edwardsville, IL 62025
Tel. (618) 659-9833
Fax (618) 659-9834
todd @ gorijulianlaw.com

Melissa R. Emert

Patrick K. Slyne

STULL, STULL & BRODY
6 East 45" Street

New York, NY 10017

Tel. (212) 687-7230

Fax (212) 490-2022
memert@ssbny.com

pkslyne @ssbny.com

Jasper D. Ward IV

Alex C. Davis

Patrick Walsh

JONES WARD PLC

Marion E. Taylor Building
312 S. Fourth Street, Sixth Floor
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
Tel. (502) 882-6000

Fax (502) 587-2007

jasper @jonesward.com
alex @jonesward.com
patrick @jonesward.com
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John A. Yanchunis, FBN: 0324681
MORGAN & MORGAN
COMPLEX LITIGATION GROUP
201 N. Franklin Street, 7" Floor
Tampa, Florida 33602

jyanchunis @forthepeople.com

Counsel for Plaintiff and the Proposed Class
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Southern District of Florida

C.B.

Plaintiff

V. Civil Action No. 0:16-cv-61561-BB

Valve Corporation, et. al.

A N N W e

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) CSGOLotto Inc. .
Clo Trevor A. Martin

6511 Vineland Road
Orlando FL 32819

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 0:16-cv-61561-BB

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

O I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

O Iserved the summons on (rame of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) , or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
O Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Southern District of Florida

C.B.

Plaintiff

V. Civil Action No. 0:16-cv-61561-BB

Valve Corporation, et. al.

A N N W e

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Trevor.A. Martin
6511 Vineland Road

Orlando FL 32819

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 0:16-cv-61561-BB

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

O I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

O Iserved the summons on (rame of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) , or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
O Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Southern District of Florida

C.B.

Plaintiff

V. Civil Action No. 0:16-cv-61561-BB

Valve Corporation, et. al.

A N N W e

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Thomas Cassell
3637 Hughes Ave.

Los Angeles CA 90034

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 0:16-cv-61561-BB

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

O I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

O Iserved the summons on (rame of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) , or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
O Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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